I. STATEMENT OF CASE AND JURISDICTION

On June 1, 2022, the government filed a 10-count indictment against Delonta Stevenson charging him with First Degree Murder While Armed, conspiracy to commit the same, two counts of Assault With Intent to Kill While Armed, and related firearm offenses. R. 1186. After a trial held on January 9, 2024 to February 1, 2024, a jury found Mr. Stevenson guilty on nine counts. R. 2792. On May 2, 2024, the court imposed an aggregate sentence of 1,024 months incarceration and five years of supervised release. R. 2812. Mr. Stevenson filed a timely appeal. R. 2814. This court has jurisdiction under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err by allowing testimony that exceeded the permissible scope of expert opinion in the field of firearm and toolmark examination?
- 2. Did the trial court err by limiting Mr. Stevenson's closing argument?
- 3. Did the trial court err by sentencing Mr. Stevenson on multiple counts of Possession of a Firearm During a Crime of Violence?

1

¹ In this brief, R. refers to the PDF page number in the 2,186-page record supplied by the Superior Court.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Stevenson is accused of meeting his co-defendant Vorreze Thomas at the Stanton Glenn apartment complex in southeast on January 18, 2021 for the purpose of killing Troy Williams. On that date, Mr. Williams was shot while riding in a car as it was attempting to leave the apartment complex. Mr. Williams survived, but the driver of the car, Terrance Allen, was killed and a second passenger, James Fye, was shot as well.

Metropolitan Police Department (MPD) officer Jeremy Verdon responded to a radio call at about 11:15 a.m. on January 18, 2021 for a shooting at Stanton Glenn apartments. 1/11/2024 Tr. 29-30. When Ofc. Verdon arrived, he saw a white Ford Crown Vic had collided with a parking pylon. 1/11/2024 Tr. 35. Troy Williams and James Fye were being detained outside of the car. 1/11/2024 Tr. 38. Terrance Allen was "slumped over on the ground right outside the passenger seat" and had no signs of life. *Id.* at 39, 49-50. The officer noticed multiple bullet holes in the car. 1/11/2024 Tr. 39. A forensic pathologist with the D.C. Office of the Chief Medical Examiner performed an autopsy on Terrance Allen the next day. 1/29/2024 Tr. 59, 64. She determined that the cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds and that the manner of death was homicide. 1/29/2024 Tr. 79. A crime scene analyst with the D.C. Department of Forensic Sciences attended the autopsy

and collected projectiles and bullet fragments taken from Terrance Allen's body (exhibits 91-96). 1/16/2024 Tr. 189-92.

Troy Williams testified under a plea agreement whereby he would plead guilty to the charge of carrying a pistol without a license and the government would inform the sentencing judge of his cooperation in this case. 1/22/2024 Tr. 53-56, 59-60. Mr. Williams testified that he met Delonta Stevenson, who he knew as "Tay," when they both resided at Stanton Glenn. 1/22/2024 Tr. 69-72. Mr. Williams identified co-defendant Thomas as Stevenson's nephew, who he also knew from Stanton Glenn. 1/22/2024 Tr. 72-73. Mr. Williams met Mr. Stevenson in 2018. 1/22/2024 Tr. 74. Mr. Stevenson lived across the street from his mother in Stanton Glenn and they became friends. *Id.* at Tr. 74-75. In November 2020, Williams was with Mr. Stevenson and others at a house for a birthday celebration. 1/22/2024 Tr. 119. Mr. Stevenson left the gathering and a short time later, Mr. Williams received a phone call indicating that Mr. Stevenson had been shot. 1/22/2024 Tr. 121. After the shooting, people in his circle of friends started treating Mr. Williams differently. *Id.* Mr. Stevenson's girlfriend, Brianca Phillips, accused Williams of "snaking," or betraying, Mr. Stevenson. 1/22/2024 Tr. 153.

The evening before he was shot, Mr. Williams spoke to his mother on the phone who was crying and told him that "somebody put their hands on her or something." 1/22/2024 Tr. 165. His mother lived in Stanton Glenn apartments, so

Mr. Williams asked Terrance Allen to give him a ride to the apartments to check on his mother. 1/22/2024 Tr. 166. He asked Mr. Allen to bring a gun "[b]ecause I felt like it was tension around there." 1/22/2024 Tr. 166-67. Terrance Allen picked him up on the morning of January 18, 2021 and then picked up a friend who Mr. Stevenson did not know. 1/22/2024 Tr. 168-69. After driving to a nearby ATM with his mother, Mr. Williams saw Mr. Stevenson when he got back to his mother's house. 1/22/2024 Tr. 175-76. Mr. Stevenson "was right across the street from me." 1/22/2024 Tr. 184. Williams testified that no one was with Mr. Stevenson, but in testimony before the grand jury, he said that "Bree" (Stevenson's girlfriend) was present. 1/22/2024 Tr. 184-85. When Mr. Williams tried to speak to Stevenson, "he told me hold on, and then he—I guess he was going in the building like he was going to get a cigarette...At this point, I just got, like, bad vibes. So I rushed my mother inside and I got back in the car and we pulled off." 1/22/2024 Tr. 185. Terrance Allen was driving; Mr. Williams was in the back seat and the other individual was in the passenger seat. 1/22/2024 Tr. 185-86. Mr. Williams identified Mr. Stevenson as wearing dark clothes and a black face mask in a screenshot from Stanton Glenn surveillance video taken the morning of the shooting. 1/22/2024 Tr. 186-90.

As Terrance Allen was driving out of the apartment complex, Mr. Williams saw "an SUV driving towards us real fast...So I told Terrance, I told him to speed

up, drive faster. And as soon as he hit the gas, we started getting shot at." 1/22/2024 Tr. 191. Mr. Williams heard more than 10 shots and tried to shoot back, "but the gun misfired or something. It just stopped shooting after a while." 1/22/2024 Tr. 192. He was shot in the foot, hip, and leg. 1/22/2024 Tr. 67. The shots came from the passenger side of the SUV, but Mr. Williams could not see who was inside the vehicle or who was doing the shooting. 1/22/2024 Tr. 193-94. He did note that one of the individuals in the vehicle was wearing dark clothing. *Id*. Tr. 194. The SUV from which shots were fired was "like a lime green color." *Id*. Mr. Williams had seen the SUV around Stanton Glenn being driven by Mr. Stevenson's nephew. 1/22/2024 Tr. 195-96. The suspect car was a Volvo. 1/22/2024 Tr. 200. Mr. Williams had also seen a black or gray Volvo SUV around Stanton Glenn being driven by Mr. Stevenson's nephew's girlfriend. 1/22/2024 Tr. 201-02.

After the shooting, Terrance Allen was slumped over the steering wheel and special police officers on the scene aimed guns toward Williams and ordered him and the other individual to stop moving. 1/22/2024 Tr. 204. Officers then noticed "the pistol was on the seat...so they placed me under arrest." 1/22/2024 Tr. 205. MPD officers took Williams to the hospital and then took him to a police station and questioned him. 1/22/2024 Tr. 206-07. At the station, Mr. Williams showed the police messages on his cell phone between him and Mr. Stevenson. 1/22/2024

Tr. 210. The government paid for Mr. Williams to relocate to Texas and helped him pay rent because he was the victim of a shooting. 1/22/2024 Tr. 210-13.

On cross-examination, Mr. Williams acknowledged that on New Years Eve, less than three weeks before the homicide, he sent a picture of himself holding a gun to Mr. Stevenson via social media. 1/22/2024 Tr. 235; defense exhibit 137.

During his interview with the police after the incident, police repeatedly asked who was at the scent of the shooting. Mr. Williams initially told police that he did not know who was at the scene, but about two hours into his interview said Mr.

Stevenson and his girlfriend were there. 1/23/2024 Tr. 48-49. On redirect examination, Mr. Williams said that he did not initially provide Mr. Stevenson's name "Because I wasn't trying to cooperate with them at first." 1/23/2024 Tr. 155.

Mr. Williams agreed that the government directly gave him and his girlfriend \$4,640 to relocate to Texas as well as paying for other expenses such as lodging. 1/23/2024 Tr. 109-110.

James Fye testified that Terrance Allen was his best friend and that they worked together for ten years. 1/11/2024 Tr. 136-37. On January 18, 2021, Terrance picked Mr. Fye up in a car in which a "little youngin" was riding and they drove to Mr. Allen's mother's house in the Stanton Glenn apartment complex. 1/11/2024 Tr. 141-43. Terrance picked up his mother and they drove to the Safeway and "took his mother right back to the house." 1/11/2024 Tr. 144. As they

attempted to drive off, "Bullets start hitting the car." 1/11/2024 Tr. 145. Mr. Fye was hit with three bullets in his shoulder. 1/11/2024 Tr. 146-47. Mr. Fye was seated next to Terrance and saw that he was shot. *Id.* at 147.

Special Police Officer Adjawo Sani was working at the Stanton Glenn apartments on the date of the shooting. 1/16/2024 Tr. 65-66. He was armed with a Smith & Wesson M&P firearm. 1/16/2024 Tr. 68. While seated in his car on the premises near the guard booth, Mr. Sani heard what sounded like fireworks. 1/16/2024 Tr. 73, 77. He then saw a white Crown Victoria crash into a pole. *Id.* at 77. As he went to assist the people in the white car, he saw a person in the front passenger seat of a gold Volvo shooting at the car that had been in the accident. 1/16/2024 Tr. 78. SPO Sani took cover behind a pillar and the person in the Volvo "happened to shoot at me as well," so he fired three shots back. 1/16/2024 Tr. 93, 116. SPO Sani saw the shooter holding a firearm with two grips and saw him reload the firearm with another magazine and continued to shoot at the white Crown Victoria. 1/16/2024 Tr. 113.

SPO Sani could not identify the shooter because he had a hood completely covering his face, but saw that the shooter was wearing black gloves; between the gloves and his shirt sleeve, he could see that he was "light-skinned...Not White, but light skin." 1/16/2024 Tr. 118. Sani had seen the Volvo many times before that day. 1/16/2024 Tr. 119. The person who drove the Volvo had a parking pass issued

by the premises management and had dark skin and was skinny. 1/16/2024 Tr. 125, 138. Mr. Sani testified that a second Volvo often seen in Stanton Glen was owned by Andrea Waldo who is the girlfriend of the person whose Volvo was involved in the shooting. 1/16/2024 Tr. 149-50.

Danielle Yandura, of the Department of Forensic Sciences, went to the scene of the shooting on January 18, 2021. 1/16/2024 Tr. 30-33. She recovered two firearms there and took photographs of each. 1/16/2024 Tr. 35. The first was a Taurus brand pistol 1/16/2024 Tr. 45, exhibit 378. The second firearm was turned over to her by SPO Sani (1/16/2024 Tr. 49) and is a Smith & Wesson M&P. 1/16/2024 Tr. 53, exhibit 380.

MPD Sergeant Michael Millsaps testified that on January 18, 2021 at about 11:10 a.m., he was driving an unmarked police car. 1/17/2024 Tr. 37, 39-40. While at the intersection of Stanton Road and Suitland Parkway, he heard gunshots. 1/17/2024 Tr. 41. Sgt. Millsaps saw a crossover-type car coming out of the Stanton Glenn apartments coming towards him. 1/17/2024 Tr. 43. He then saw a uniformed security officer shoot a round in the direction of the car that was fleeing the apartment complex. *Id.* The officer chased the Volvo and when the car got stuck in traffic, Sgt. Millsaps got out of his car and approached the Volvo with his gun drawn. 1/17/2024 Tr. 51-52. He could see two people in the car; the passenger had

a black glove on. *Id.* at 52-53. The Volvo jumped a curb and got away. 1/17/2024 Tr. 55. Sgt. Millsaps saw the Volvo again a few blocks away. *Id.* at 56.

Kea Dodson testified that she was working from her home located at 2901 Erie Street in southeast on January 18, 2021 when she heard a crash. 1/16/2024 Tr. 195, 198. She looked out her window and saw two men exiting the car involved in the crash. 1/16/2021 Tr. 200. Ms. Dodson recalled one man got out of the driver's side and one on the passenger side and ran toward a wooded area. 1/17/2024 Tr. 21, 25. "It looked like they had guns." *Id.* The person who got out of the passenger side appeared to have "a long gun, like it would have been a rifle." 1/17/2024 Tr. 22. The person who got out of the passenger side was a black male with blondish long dreads. *Id.* at 24. His "roots were black, but the majority of his hair was blond." 1/17/2024 Tr. 32. In her grand jury testimony, Ms. Dodson did not say that the man had blond dreadlocks. 1/17/2024 Tr. 36.

Police came to the crash scene near Ms. Dodson's home and a K9 located a short-barreled rifle in the wooded area described by Ms. Dodson. 1/17/2024 Tr. 69. This firearm, an American Tactical rifle, was later swabbed for DNA by a forensic evidence analyst. 1/11/2024 Tr. 62-74. Crime scene search investigator James Fields searched the Volvo involved in the crash. He swabbed various parts of the car for DNA as well as collecting a cellphone from the passenger seat. 1/17/2024 Tr. 75-76, 90. DNA analysis of the swab from the American Tactical rifle revealed

a mixture of DNA from four people and that obtaining this DNA profile was about one quintillion times more likely if the DNA originated from Mr. Stevenson and three unknown, unrelated individuals, than if the DNA originated from four unknown, unrelated individuals. 1/24/2024 Tr. 157. DNA analysis of swabs of the interior front passenger door of the Volvo showed that it was about 3.6 billion times more likely if the DNA had originated from Mr. Stevenson and three unknown, unrelated individuals, than if the DNA originated from four unknown, unrelated individuals. 1/24/2024 Tr. 179.

A crime scene analyst with the D.C. Department of Forensic Sciences collected numerous firearm shell casings on January 18, 2021 at the scene of the shooting. 1/18/2024 Tr. 76-108. Several firearms, shell casings from the scene of the shooting, and the evidence collected at the autopsy were analyzed by forensic firearm examiner Chris Monturo. Mr. Stevenson filed a pretrial motion to preclude or limit the testimony of Mr. Monturo. R. 1272. The government filed an opposition (R. 2254) and attached exhibits (R. 1346). The trial court issued an order on October 10, 2023 denying the defendant's motion. R. 2326. On January 3, 2024, the court issued a "Modification to Previous Order" requiring the government to comply with the dictates of *Geter v. United States*, 306 A.3d 126 (D.C. 2023), a case decided after the October 10th order. R. 2398. The government filed a supplemental motion in light of *Geter* on January 8, 2024. R. 2400. The

court heard further argument on the issue before the jury was empaneled. 1/10/2024 Tr. 9-28. Mr. Stevenson renewed his objection to Mr. Monturo's testimony at trial, which the court overruled. 1/17/2024 Tr. 161-62, 183.

The court recognized Mr. Monturo as an expert in the field of firearms and toolmark examination and analysis. 1/17/2024 Tr. 163. The government displayed a PowerPoint presentation during Mr. Monturo's testimony (marked as exhibit 804), but the exhibit was not provided to the jury for their use during deliberations. Mr. Monturo explained that there are four possible conclusions when attempting to identify the source of firearm toolmarks. 1/17/2023 Tr. 183-85; exhibit 804, slide 11. The first possible conclusion is "there's extremely strong support for the proposition that the toolmark came from the same source." *Id.* at 183. This is also referred to as "sufficient agreement." Exhibit 804, slide 11. "Sufficient agreement" is further defined as an "opinion that the observed class characteristics and corresponding random characteristics provide extremely strong support for the proposition that the two toolmarks originated from the same source (firearm and bullet/cartridge case) and extremely weak support for the proposition that the two toolmarks originated from different sources. Exhibit 804, slide 13. The second possible conclusion is "elimination," also known as "sufficient disagreement." Id. The third possible conclusion is "inconclusive" or "not sufficient agreement." *Id*. The final possible conclusion is "not suitable for microscopic comparison." *Id.* Mr. Monturo agreed that his conclusions "are not based on a statistically derived or verified measure," that he cannot state "any conclusion here with 100 percent certainty," that "there's no generally accepted statistical way to measure or convey the weight of the evidence in... firearms and toolmarks forensics," and that he cannot state that two toolmarks originated from the same source to the exclusion of all other sources because "That would be implying that I've looked at every single gun ever made, and that simply is not feasible." 1/17/2024 Tr. 185-86.

Mr. Monturo test fired the American Tactical rifle which allowed him to make comparisons to casings, bullets, and fragments. 1/18/2024 Tr. 13. He examined 34 casings from the scene of the shooting all of which were the same caliber and could not have been fired from the 9mm guns he received in this case. Id. 13-14. Using a comparison microscope, Mr. Monturo was able to compare the "markings on the evidence cartridge cases to the test fires that I produced." 1/18/2024 Tr. 14. Mr. Monturo "observed characteristics of random imperfections on the cartridge cases that were placed when coming in contact with the firearm to determine that they were – they showed extremely good source marks, that they came from the same source as the test fires...." Id. Mr. Monturo compared testfired bullets from the American Tactical rifle to a bullet recovered at the autopsy (exhibit 94) and concluded that "there was extremely strong observations that the bullets were fired—came from the same source." 1/18/2024 Tr. 19. Mr. Monturo

compared casings test-fired from SPO Sani's Smith & Wesson M&P to casings at the crime scene and testified that "there's extremely strong support to support the proposition that the cartridge cases were fired from the—had the same source marks as the test fires that I made." 1/18/2024 Tr. 20-21.

Akil Muhangi, an employee of the D.C. Department of Forensic Science, extracted data from and analyzed the contents of a cellphone with the Apple ID breesworld@icloud and breeworld@icloud. 1/23/2024 Tr. 204, 214. At 10:53 a.m. on January 18, 2021, the phone placed a call to the contact listed as "Little V." 1/23/2024 Tr. 215-16. The phone also had two instant messages and an audio recording stating that "Rah Rah" is here. 1/23/3024 Tr. 217-222. (Rah Rah is Troy Williams's nickname. 1/22/2024 Tr. 62.) Through Mr. Muhangi, the government also introduced photos and a video from a phone apparently showing Mr. Stevenson wearing a dark blue puffy jacket like what the suspect was wearing in video surveillance images from the crime scene. 1/23/2024 Tr. 224-227 (government exhibits 1006, 1008, 1010).

FBI special agent Michael Fowler testified as an expert in the field of historical cell site analysis and cellular technology. 1/25/2024 Tr. 116, 121. Special Agent Fowler's analysis of a phone associated with the suspects in the Volvo showed that the phone was in the vicinity of Stanton Glenn apartments around the time of the shooting on January 18, 2021. 1/25/2024 Tr. 136-41.

IV. ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred by allowing testimony that exceeded the permissible scope of expert opinion in the field of firearm and toolmark examination.

In Motorola Inc. v. Murray, 147 A.3d 751, 756 (D.C. 2016) (en banc), this court held that the admissibility of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702 of the Federal Rules of Evidence and Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 587 (1993), and its progeny. Before admitting expert scientific testimony, Daubert requires that the trial court make "a preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology is scientifically valid and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts in issue." 509 U.S. at 592-93. "The inquiry envisioned by Rule 702 is, we emphasize, a flexible one. Its overarching subject is the scientific validity -- and thus the evidentiary relevance and reliability -- of the principles that underlie a proposed submission. The focus, of course, must be solely on principles and methodology, not on the conclusions that they generate." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 594-595. A trial court's decision on the admissibility of expert testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Parker v. *United States*, 249 A.3d 388, 401 (D.C. 2021).

This court has placed significant limits on the scope of testimony from a firearm/toolmark expert. In *Gardner v. United States*, 140 A.3d 1172, 1184 (D.C. 2016), the court held that "a firearms and toolmark expert may not give an

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