CONSOLIDATED BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court Received 08/21/2025 01:33 PM Filed 08/21/2025 01:33 PM

Nos. 24-CF-428 & 24-CF-496

DELONTA STEVENSON, and VORREZE RICARDO THOMAS,

Appellants,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEALS FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA CRIMINAL DIVISION

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB MILES JANSSEN ZACHARY HORTON

- * MARY C. FLEMING D.C. Bar # 1048019 Assistant United States Attorneys
- * Counsel for Oral Argument 601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232 Washington, D.C. 20530 Mary.Fleming@usdoj.gov (202) 252-6829

Cr. Nos. 2021-CF1-000968 2021-CF1-000967

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

of acceptance within that community." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 594. "Widespread acceptance can be an important factor in ruling particular evidence admissible[.]" Id. The firearms-and-toolmark methods established by the AFTE "certainly satisf[y] this element." United States v. Romero-Lobato, 379 F. Supp. 3d 1111, 1122 (D. Nev. 2019).

Firearms-and-toolmark identification is practiced worldwide in government and independent forensic laboratories and studied worldwide by scientists with expertise in multiple fields, including applied physics, computer science, chemistry, metallurgy, and statistics (R1416-18, 1419-20, 1434-36, 2477). In the United States alone, there are at least 228 laboratories with firearms-and-toolmark accreditation certificates (R2477). Furthermore, the firearms units do not exist in a vacuum; virtually all function within a larger forensic laboratory with other disciplines such as forensic biology, chemistry, and fingerprint identification (*id.*).

Therefore, based upon the applicable standards for the admission of expert testimony, the trial court here did not abuse its discretion in allowing Monturo to provide the jury with his expert assessment of the strength of the firearms and toolmark evidence in this case.

3. Appellants' Proposed Limitations Do Not Reflect the Current Science.

Although appellants do not challenge the scientific research discussed above, they assert that Monturo should have been limited to opining that the rifle could not "be excluded as the source" of the toolmarks, or, alternatively, that the toolmarks were consistent with the rifle (Thomas Br. 30-31; Stevenson Br. 17-18). To the contrary, Monturo's language accurately described the weight of his conclusion—that there was extremely strong support that the toolmarks originated from the rifle, and extremely weak support that the toolmarks came from a different source. Appellants' proposed language would inaccurately dilute Monturo's conclusions and potentially introduce *more* error into the analysis. "Exclusion" is a term of art that requires "significant disagreement of discernable class characteristics and/or individual characteristics," and "is most often based on observed differences in any class characteristics." AFTE Theory of Identification. Many firearms will fail this standard and thus cannot be excluded as the source of particular toolmarks (R1441-42). Similarly, toolmarks may be "consistent with"

many firearms. ¹⁸ A sufficient-agreement conclusion, in contrast, requires "[a]greement of a combination of individual characteristics and all discernable class characteristics where the extent of agreement" not only "is consistent with the agreement demonstrated by toolmarks known to have been produced by the same tool," but also "exceeds that which can occur in the comparison of toolmarks made by different tools." AFTE Theory of Identification. As discussed, research shows that examiners make identification conclusions using this standard with low error rates.

Appellants offer no scientific support or data for their proposed language. They cite several non-binding decisions analyzing firearm-and-toolmark testimony, but none are persuasive. In *United States v. Tibbs*, the court did not consider the substantial body of post-PCAST research, including the error-rate studies discussed herein. No. 2016-CFl-19431, 2019 WL 4359486, at *7-16 (D.C. Super. Ct. Sept. 5, 2019). *Tibbs*

_

¹⁸ This case illustrates the point. Four metal bullet cores recovered from the autopsy were "of a bullet design . . . consistent with" the rifle but were unsuitable for further comparison (1/18/24 Tr. 22-23). As to other bullet fragments recovered from the shooting scene, the rifle could not be excluded as the source because the class characteristics were in agreement, even though Monturo determined that the individual characteristics were insufficient to reach a conclusion of sufficient agreement (*id.* at 22).

erroneously discounted numerous pre-PCAST studies based on the court's own evaluation of study design, including the one error-rate study that PCAST considered valid. *Id.* at 16. *Tibbs* also discounted studies published in the AFTE Journal because the court disagreed with the journal's open peer-review method. *Id.* at 9. However, open peer review "is well within the accepted norms of peer review," and, in any event, the AFTE Journal now uses double-blind peer review (R1411-13).

More recently, in *United States v. Green*, the court found that firearms examiners can reliably "find connections between guns and ammunition based on" toolmarks, but it disallowed the "extremely strong support" conclusion language because, in the DNA context, that language means "it is at least one million times more likely that the DNA profile originated from the defendant than from an unknown, unrelated contributor." No. 2018-CF1-4356, 2024 D.C. Super. LEXIS 8, at *63 (D.D.C. April 1, 2024). As explained in a research article submitted to the trial court in this case, however, DNA analysis is "so different from firearms and toolmark identification that analogies may be intellectually inappropriate" (R1480). Unlike in firearms-and-toolmark analysis, DNA analysis can measure the "relatively rare frequency with which a

combination of subclass characteristics occur in a given population" (id.). The probative value of DNA analysis is thus commonly expressed in terms of two alternative hypotheses—the likelihood of seeing the DNA profile if the suspect is included in the profile, versus not included in the profile. As *Green* recognized, DNA experts may also use a verbal scale to help explain the statistics. 2024 D.C. Super. LEXIS 8, at *62.

Firearms examiners, in contrast, do not "base their identifications on subclass characteristics or frequencies of combinations thereof" (R1480). Instead, they rely on "manufacturing methods and an ability to assess and distinguish among the class, subclass, and individual characteristics produced by the tool manufacturing process" (id.). Further weakening the comparison to DNA's use of statistics is that, unlike DNA, variation in toolmarks does not occur at fixed points. And unlike DNA, the sufficient-agreement conclusion in the firearms context is binary—either there is sufficient agreement or there is not. Notably, other forensic-science disciplines, like latent-print analysis, also use conclusion language similar to that at issue here without assigning it a statistical weight. See ULTR, Office of Legal Policy, U.S. Department of

Justice, https://www.justice.gov/olp/uniform-language-testimony-and-reports (last visited Aug. 20, 2025).

The lack of a quantitative model akin to the DNA context does not mean that a firearms examiner's "extremely strong support" conclusion language is unreliable. ¹⁹ See Motorola, 147 A.3d at 755 ("the test of reliability is 'flexible") (citation omitted). To the contrary, that language accurately conveys the probative value of an examiner's opinion, while specifically avoiding language that might imply reliance on likelihood ratios or statistics. ²⁰

D. Any Conceivable Error Was Harmless Given the Overwhelming Evidence of Appellants' Guilt.

Even if Monturo's conclusion language should have been more limited, this Court can say with fair assurance that any error "did not influence the jury, or had but a slight effect." *Smallwood v. United States*,

41

_

¹⁹ To avoid any potential confusion in this case, the government's DNA expert did not use a verbal scale in describing his conclusions to the jury.

²⁰ Appellants' reliance on *Abruquah v. State*, 483 Md. 637 (2023), also does not support their proposed limitations on Monturo's testimony. In *Abruquah*, the only issue before the court was "whether the AFTE Theory can reliably support an *unqualified* opinion that a particular firearm is the source of one or more particular bullets." *Id.* at 680 (emphasis added).

312 A.3d 219, 227 (D.C. 2024) (quoting *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750, 764 (1946)); *Gardner*, 140 A.3d at 1185-86 (improperly admitted ballistics testimony was harmless). Appellants each pursued a defense theory of mistaken identity, but overwhelming evidence established their identities the perpetrators of the shooting.²¹

Williams testified that Stevenson was at Stanton Glenn minutes before the shooting and identified Stevenson in a screenshot from the Stanton Glenn surveillance video (1/22/24 Tr. 190-91; Ex. 753). The video shows Stevenson getting into the passenger side of the green Volvo approximately 30 seconds before the shooting (Exs. 503 at 0:00–:30, 505Z at 2:15–:30). Although appellants challenge Williams's credibility, substantial evidence corroborated his identification of Stevenson (cf. Thomas Br. 6-8, 33-34; Stevenson Br. 6). Social-media videos depicted Stevenson's hand tattoos, which were visible on metrobus surveillance during appellants' flight, and faintly visible on the shooter's hands during the shooting (Exs. 507Z, 515E at 13:39–:41, 1010). Stevenson's face is

At a minimum, any error was harmless as to Stevenson's conviction for unlawful possession of the gun recovered during the search after his

arrest (Count 9). Stevenson admitted at trial that he possessed that gun, and Monturo's testimony was unrelated to that charge (1/30/24 at 144).

visible in the metrobus and bank surveillance (Exs. 512A at 16:47–:50, 512B at 16:53–:55, 512E at 16:50–:56, 515B at 13:25–:44). And photos and videos from social media and Phillips's phone depicted Stevenson wearing the blue puffer jacket seen in the surveillance footage (Exs. 1006, 1008, 1010, 1021E).

DNA analysis placed Stevenson in the Volvo's passenger seat and showed that he had handled the rifle recovered on appellants' flight path (1/24/24 Tr. 168-69, 181). Even without Monturo's challenged conclusion language, copious evidence established that a rifle was used in the shooting: surveillance video showed Thomas holding a rifle immediately before the shooting (Ex. 505Z); Sani testified that that the shooter's gun "had two grips" (1/16/24 Tr. 113); Dodson testified that the Volvo's passenger fled the car crash while holding "a long gun, like it would have been a rifle" (1/17/24 Tr. 22); and Monturo testified based on class characteristics that the cartridge casings recovered from the shooting scene were from a rifle (1/18/24 Tr. 13-14).

Moreover, Stevenson's animus against Williams provided circumstantial evidence of his identity as the shooter. Phone records established that appellants arrived at Stanton Glenn after Phillips (Stevenson's girlfriend) alerted Thomas (Stevenson's nephew) that Williams was at Stanton Glenn (1/23/24 Tr. 214-218, 221; 1/25/24 Tr. 182-83). When Phillips and Thomas each arrived at Stanton Glenn, they met up with the person wearing the blue puffer jacket and red-striped pants—demonstrating that they knew him and he was, in fact, Stevenson.

As to Thomas, although no witness "identified him . . . as being present at Stanton Glenn on January 18, 2021" (Thomas Br. 33), overwhelming circumstantial evidence established his identity. Thomas's DNA was found in multiple places in the Volvo, including the steering wheel and driver controls, and a black face mask that matched the one Thomas was wearing at the gas station before the shooting (1/24/24 Tr. 176-78, 182). Thomas's DNA matched DNA from the recovered rifle (1/24/24 Tr. 167-68). Further, social-media photos and videos depicted Thomas wearing the same jacket and shoes seen in the surveillance videos introduced at trial (Exs. 1021B–D).²² Thomas's face was visible in

_

²² Thomas argues that he was never identified as the person in the social-media images. However, the photos and videos were either posted by Thomas's Instagram account or tagged with Thomas's Instagram username, see n.12, *supra*. Moreover, the jury could observe Thomas at trial and determine that he was the same person depicted in the social-media images (*accord* Exs. 497-98 (Thomas's arrest photos)).

the surveillance video from the metrobus and bank on appellants' flight path, as well as from the gas station before the shooting (Exs. 512B at 16:53–:55, 512D at 16:48–:51, 515B at 13:25–:44, 516A at 0:28–:55). In addition, cell site evidence demonstrated that Thomas's phone was in the area of Stanton Glenn at the time of the shooting and then moved northeast consistent with appellants' flight path (1/25/24 Tr. 137-41). Although Thomas claims that he was not the person using the phone (cf. Thomas Br. 34), gas station surveillance footage showed Thomas answering a call from Phillips's phone to "Lil V" approximately 20 minutes before the shooting (Ex. 516A at 0:28–:55).

Contrary to Thomas's claim, the inconsistent descriptions of his height at trial cast little doubt on his identity as the Volvo's driver (cf. Thomas Br. 34). Dodson testified that the Volvo's driver was taller than the passenger, which arguably conflicted with Sani's description of Thomas as short (1/16/24 Tr. 138; 1/17/24 Tr. 32). However, Dodson acknowledged that her vantage point was from her second-floor apartment looking down onto the street, and that she saw the fleeing individuals for "[n]ot long, maybe five to ten seconds" (1/17/24 Tr. 35).

Accordingly, Monturo's testimony did not play a substantial role in proving the identities of Stevenson and Thomas. Although appellants claim that the government "highlighted" Monturo's testimony in closing (Thomas Br. 33), government counsel only briefly discussed Monturo's conclusion during a nearly 90-minute closing argument (1/30/24 Tr. 72-74, 98-99)—an argument that primarily focused on the extensive video evidence, eyewitness accounts, DNA evidence, social-media evidence, and cell-site analysis that established appellants' guilt. The firearms evidence was not referenced at all in the government's rebuttal (1/31/24 Tr. 47-80). In short, Monturo's challenged testimony "did not influence the jury, or had but a slight effect." *Smallwood*, 312 A.3d at 227.

II. Any Error in the Trial Court's Ruling on Stevenson's Closing Argument Was Harmless.

A. Additional Background

In closing argument, the defense asserted that the blue puffer jacket was not evidence of Stevenson's identity. To bolster this claim, Stevenson's counsel asked the jury to consider "[h]ow many dark, puffy coats did you see" in January 2021 (1/30/24 Tr. 126). The government objected: "[Defense counsel] is violating the golden rule asking the jurors to place themselves in positions. . . . [S]he should not be able to ask . . .

the jury rhetorical questions of that nature." (*Id.*) The trial court ruled that defense counsel's argument was "not proper, in terms of the type of question to present to the jury" (*id.* at 127). Stevenson's counsel then argued:

About that puffy jacket though, how do you know who is wearing it. You don't know. It could be a coincidence. It can be someone else that Mr. Stevenson lives with, someone who has access to it put it on that day, family member or brother. It could be could anybody. You don't know because nobody identified him. . . . How many people have tattoos on their hands? We don't know. Just like we don't know how many people have puffy jackets. (*Id.* at 127-28.)

B. Argument

"Because a trial court has broad discretion in controlling the scope of closing argument, [this Court] review[s] a decision to restrict such argument under an abuse of discretion standard." *Haley v. United States*, 799 A.2d 1201, 1207 (D.C. 2022). Here, even assuming, arguendo, that the trial court erred in sustaining the government's objection, reversal is not required because Stevenson was not "substantially prejudice[d], i.e., 'we can say, with fair assurance, after pondering all that happened without stripping the erroneous action from the whole, that the judgment was not substantially swayed by the error." *Plummer v. United States*, 813 A.2d 182, 191 (D.C. 2002) (citation omitted).

Notwithstanding the court's ruling, Stevenson's counsel repeatedly argued that the coat was not a meaningful identifier (1/30/24 Tr. 127-28 (counsel arguing, "how do you know who is wearing [the coat]," "[y]ou don't know," "[i]t could be a coincidence," "[i]t could be anybody," and "we don't know how many people have puffy jackets"). Stevenson's counsel ably made the point that many people might wear a dark, puffy coat, and the jury was not given "the impression that they could not use their common knowledge" (cf. Stevenson's Br. 27). To the contrary, the court instructed the jury that it may draw "reasonable inferences as you feel are justified in the light of your experience," and "should give any evidence such weight as in your judgment it is fairly entitled to receive" (1/31/24 Tr. 89). See Tornero v. United States, 94 A.3d 1, 10 (D.C. 2014) (any error in trial court's characterization of a closing argument as improper was harmless); Robinson v. United States, 606 A.2d 1368, 1373 (D.C. 1992) (no prejudice where trial court erroneously sustained prosecutor's objection to defense closing argument because counsel otherwise had sufficient opportunity to present defense theory).

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